FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/23/2025 3:15 PM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 1043031

Court of Appeal Cause No. 86032-1

FALL CITY SUSTAINABLE GROWTH,

Appellant,

v.

KING COUNTY; MT. SI INVESTMENTS, LLC; CEDAR 17
INVESTMENTS, LLC; CHA CHA 15 INVESTMENTS, LLC;
TAYLOR DEVELOPMENT, INC.,

Respondents.

AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

David A. Bricklin, WSBA No. 7583
Michael Rea, WSBA No. 60592
BRICKLIN & NEWMAN, LLP
123 NW 36th Street, Suite 205
Seattle, WA 98107
(206) 264-8600
bricklin@bnd-law.com
rea@bnd-law.com
Attorneys for Fall City Sustainable
Growth

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Fall City Sustainable Growth (“Sustainable Growth”), appellant below, petitions for review of the Court of Appeals decision identified in Part II.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Appellant seeks review of a published Court of Appeals decision, *Fall City Sustainable Growth, v. King County; Mt. Si Investments, LLC; Cedar 17 Investments, LLC; Cha Cha 15 Investments, LLC; Taylor Development, Inc.* (May 19, 2025) (attached hereto as App. A).

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the state’s subdivision law and/or the county code preclude a hearing examiner from approving a preliminary plat application upon concluding the application fails to conform with the applicable comprehensive land use plan and, if so, whether the matter should be remanded to the examiner to deny or condition the proposed plats given her

finding that the plats as proposed do not conform to the comprehensive plan?

2. Whether the state's subdivision law and/or the county code provide a hearing examiner with discretion to condition or deny a plat if it fails to conform with the applicable land use comprehensive plan, and, if so, whether the matter should be remanded to the examiner to exercise discretion she did not recognize she had?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is about a county's obligation to review a proposed division of land for conformance with the county's comprehensive land use plan. The rules counties and cities apply when considering subdivision proposals have gained importance as the increased need for housing options across the state is balanced with other values, such as the preservation of open spaces and rural character.

The King County hearing examiner determined as "a

matter of law” that three subdivisions proposed by respondent Taylor Development would not conform with the county’s comprehensive plan. She based her conclusion on specific findings about the characteristics of the proposed subdivisions and on the insight gleaned from a similar, nearby subdivision Taylor Development had recently completed. But despite those findings, the examiner approved the proposed plats because she concluded she had neither the discretion nor mandate to condition or deny a plat the does not conform to the comprehensive plan.

The Court of Appeals upheld the approval of the plats despite the examiner’s unchallenged conclusion that the plats would not conform with the comprehensive plan. Review by this Court is appropriate because the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with reported cases regarding the role of the comprehensive plan in the permitting process and reported cases that establish and apply basic rules of statutory construction, and

because of the importance of these issues for residential development throughout the state.

A. Taylor Development’s Proposal and Procedural History.

1. *Taylor Development proposes multiple subdivisions in the Rural Town of Fall City.*

Taylor Development submitted three preliminary plat applications to King County. A preliminary plat¹ provides the basis of approval or disapproval for the subdivision of land. RCW 58.17.030(4).² Each of Taylor’s preliminary plats is identified by name: “Mt. Si,” “Cedar 23,” and “Cha Cha.” KC09824³ (Mt. Si); KC05754 (Cedar 23); KC00005 (Cha Cha).

Originally, Taylor Development had planned to develop seven subdivisions in the town of Fall City. Those plats are

1 We use the terms “plat,” “preliminary plat,” and “subdivision” interchangeably.

2 Regarding the legal effect and importance of the “preliminary” plat approval, *see, e.g., Knight v. Yelm*, 173 Wn.2d 325, 343 – 344, 267 P.3d 973 (2011).

3 "KC" identifies pages in the administrative record.

identified in the image below. The three plats at issue here are identified below as 2 (Mt. Si), 3 (Cha Cha), and 4 (Cedar23):



*Id.*⁴

2. *The examiner concluded as a matter of law that the proposed subdivisions failed to conform with the Comprehensive Plan.*

Per KCC 20.20.020(A)(3) & (D), a hearing examiner conducted a review hearing for each of Taylor's proposed plats. The examiner considered the evidence and concluded as a

⁴ The bottom half of the image has been cropped to fit the image on a single page.

“matter of law” that the three plat applications did not conform with the Comprehensive Plan’s goal of protecting rural character. KC16231; KC17505; KC18119-20. The examiner’s legal conclusion that the plats would not conform with the Comprehensive Plan was supported with detailed factual findings.⁵ KC16231-33 (Cha Cha); KC17504-06 (Cedar 23); KC18118-21 (Mt. Si).

Unlike typical rural areas, the houses in these plats would be very close to one another, with tiny front, side and rear yards.⁶ The examiner referenced a variety of urban-style impacts from Taylor’s Arrington Court project (before and after images below) to support her conclusion that Mt. Si, Cedar 23, and Cha Cha would not conform with the Comprehensive Plan’s goal to

⁵ These unchallenged findings are verities on appeal. *Standing Rock Homeowners Ass’n v. Misich*, 106 Wn. App. 231, 238, 23 P.3d 520 (2001).

⁶ Lots in the Cha Cha plat would average 5,839 square feet, KC16043, approximately 25% of a typical Fall City lot. KC00737.

protect rural character (KC13194 – 96; KC07383 – 85; KC03016 – 19):



KC16207.

Despite her legal conclusions that the plats would not conform to the rural character policies of the Comprehensive Plan, the examiner concluded she was obligated to approve the plats anyway. Her reasoning was that State law and the King County code had provided only one tool to address conformance

with the Comprehensive Plan's rural character policies: the county's density standards. KC17928 (Mt. Si); KC17301 (Cedar 17); KC16321 (Cha Cha). In support of her reasoning that density was the sole arbiter of conformance with the Comprehensive Plan (*i.e.*, that she lacked discretion to condition or deny based on the nonconformance), the examiner cited no legal authority. *Id.*

3. *Prior appeals of the examiner's decisions.*

Sustainable Growth timely appealed the examiner's decisions to the King County Council. *See* KC13239. The Council consolidated the appeals and affirmed the examiner's decisions without additional findings or analysis, simply adopting the examiner's findings and conclusions verbatim.⁷

Sustainable Growth filed a petition for review of the Council's decision pursuant to the Land Use Petition Act (ch.

⁷ Ord. 19673 (Mt. Si), 19674 (Cedar 23), and 19675 (Cha Cha).

36.70C RCW). The parties stipulated transferring the case to the Court of Appeals. *Order for Transfer of Case to Court of Appeals (Division I)* (Nov. 30, 2023). The Court of Appeals issued its decision on May 19, 2025 (the “Decision”).

B. Protecting Rural Areas, like Fall City, is a Growth Management Priority of the State and King County.

The Legislature enacted the Growth Management Act (GMA) to address issues arising from unplanned growth and to balance development pressures with preservation of environmental quality, community character, and rural areas. RCW 36.70A.010. While the original act addressed in detail development in urban areas and the protection of resource lands and critical areas, rural areas received little attention. A 1994 Growth Management Hearings Board decision wryly observed: “Rural lands are the leftover meatloaf in the GMA refrigerator. The term ‘rural’ is not even defined in the Act.” *City of Port Townsend v. Jefferson County*, 1994 WL 907895, at 10.

In 1997 and 2002, the legislature added detailed requirements for the protection of rural areas. Laws of 1997, ch. 429; Laws of 2002, ch. 212. The legislature found that some development was appropriate in rural areas, but that development had to be consistent with rural character:

[T]he legislature finds that in defining its rural element under RCW 36.70A.070(5), a county should foster land use patterns and develop a local vision of rural character that will: Help preserve rural-based economies and traditional rural lifestyles; encourage the economic prosperity of rural residents; foster opportunities for small-scale, rural-based employment and self-employment; permit the operation of rural-based agricultural, commercial, recreational, and tourist businesses that are consistent with existing and planned land use patterns; be compatible with the use of the land by wildlife and for fish and wildlife habitat; foster the private stewardship of the land and preservation of open space; and enhance the rural sense of community and quality of life.

Laws of 2002, ch. 212, §1 (codified at RCW 36.70A.011).

The legislation added detailed requirements allowing some more intense development in specially designated, limited rural areas. Laws of 1997, ch. 429, §7 (codified at RCW 36.70C.070(5)). The legislation mandated that comprehensive plans include a rural element that “shall include measures that apply to rural development and protect the rural character of the area, as established by the county, . . .” RCW 36.70A.070(5)(c). It defined “rural development” to allow a variety of residential densities, but “at levels that are consistent with the preservation of rural character.” RCW 36.70A.030 (35).

The GMA requires King County and the three surrounding counties to adopt a multi-county plan to address inter-jurisdictional issues in the central Puget Sound region. RCW 36.70A.210(7). The multicounty planning policies echo the Growth Management Act’s requirement that “[r]ural development ... consist of ... residential patterns that preserve rural character.” *Id.* at 24.

The King County Countywide Planning Policies address growth issues among King County and the incorporated cities within King County. The Countywide Planning Policies echo the goal of the multicounty planning policies. Growth in the rural area should “maintain rural character.”⁸ More specifically, “residential development in the Rural Area” should be “compatible with rural character **and** comply with [specified] density guidelines.”⁹

Next in the GMA hierarchy, the King County Comprehensive Plan fulfills the mandate of the GMA and the regional policies to protect rural areas. An entire chapter of the Comprehensive Plan is dedicated to identifying and protecting rural areas. KC01052. The purpose of the first five sections of the Plan’s “Rural Area” chapter is to satisfy the Growth Management Act’s “mandatory rural element by designating

8 *Id.* at 33 (DP-47).

9 *Id.* (DP-48) (emphasis supplied).

Rural Area lands in order to limit development and prevent sprawl, by permitting **land uses that are supportive of and compatible with the rural character** established in the King County Countywide Planning Policies, and by providing for a variety of rural densities.” KC01053 (emphasis supplied). The Plan explicitly states the County’s intent to protect rural character:

Rural King County is an essential part of the county’s rich diversity of communities and lifestyle choices, encompassing landscapes of scenic and great natural beauty. This chapter sets forth the **county’s intent and policies to ensure the conservation and enhancement of rural communities** and natural resource lands.

KC01052 (emphasis supplied).

The Plan includes several types of Rural Area designations, including the Rural Town designation. Fall City is designated as a “Rural Town,” KC01084, one of only three

remaining Rural Towns in King County. *Id.* Rural Towns, like other parts of the Rural Area, are to embody and maintain rural character. *Id.*

The GMA’s cascading hierarchy continues with the statute’s mandate that counties and cities adopt “development regulations that are consistent with and implement the comprehensive plan.” RCW 36.70A.040(3)(d). As discussed in detail below, King County’s development code includes provisions that require plats to conform with the Comprehensive Plan.¹⁰

¹⁰ The attributes associated with rural character are defined in several sources. *See* RCW 36.70A.030(35); WAC 365-196-425(2); KC1056 – 58 (Comprehensive Plan).

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals Decision Conflicts with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals Decisions which Require Comprehensive Plan Conformance if Mandated by Code.

Comprehensive land use plans generally do not have regulatory effect. Development regulations, not plans, are the primary regulatory device. *See Citizens for Mount Vernon v. City of Mount Vernon*, 133 Wn.2d 861, 873, 947 P.2d 1208 (1997). But there are at least two exceptions to the general rule.

One exception was created by statute: RCW 36.70B.030(1) and RCW 36.70B.040(1) provide that a comprehensive plan may have regulatory effect when there is no applicable development regulation. The Decision acknowledges this ‘no applicable code’ exception. Decision at 18 – 19.

A second exception has long been recognized in case law: When a code mandates compliance with the comprehensive plan, the comprehensive plan has regulatory effect. *Cingular Wireless*,

LLC v. Thurston County, 131 Wn. App. 756, 129 P.3d 300 (2006), *Weyerhaeuser v. Pierce Cnty*, 124 Wn.2d 26, 43, 873 P.2d 498 (1994); *Woods v. Kittitas Cnty.*, 162 Wn.2d 597, 614, 174 P.3d 25 (2007); *WestMain Assocs. v. Bellevue*, 49 Wn. App. 513, 524–25, 742 P.2d 1266 (1987), *rev. den.*, 112 Wn.2d 1009 (1989). The Decision acknowledges this ‘code mandate’ exception, too. Decision at 23 (quoting *Cingular*).

The Decision is inconsistent with the code mandate exception and directly conflicts with *Cingular* and its antecedents. Those cases clearly establish that when a code explicitly mandates conformance with a comprehensive plan, subdivision approvals must adhere to its provisions. Here, the Decision violates this fundamental rule by interpreting multiple explicit code mandates in a manner that deprives them of their intended regulatory effect. Rather than applying *Cingular*’s straightforward principle—that a clearly articulated code requirement for plan conformity must be enforced—the Decision

adopted strained and erroneous statutory interpretations, effectively nullifying the ‘code mandate’ exception that is entrenched in case law. This departure from controlling precedent justifies Supreme Court review.

The Decision suggests that the state’s adoption of the Growth Management Act (GMA) and the related Local Project Review Act (ch. 36.70B RCW) changed the rules articulated in *Cingular* and its antecedents. The Decision includes a lengthy background section on the GMA and the Local Project Review Act (Decision at 6 – 11) and uses that in its later discussion to undermine the rule that a comprehensive plan has regulatory effect if a code gives it regulatory effect. But the court in *Cingular* was aware of the adoption of the GMA and nonetheless adhered to the pre-GMA rule that when a code requires compliance with a comprehensive plan, the plan has regulatory effect. The *Cingular* decision discusses this Court’s then-recent

*Viking*¹¹ decision which, the *Cingular* court acknowledged, had characterized the GMA as establishing “merely a framework.” *Cingular* at 773, n. 7. Quoting *Viking*, the *Cingular* court further acknowledged that “it is local development regulations, including zoning regulations enacted pursuant to a comprehensive plan, which act as a constraint on individual landowners.” *Id.* Nonetheless, even after adoption of the GMA, the *Cingular* court held that where those GMA planning regulations require compliance with a comprehensive plan, projects must comply with them. *Id.* at 770.

The Decision cites *Woods v. Kittitas Cnty.*, 162 Wn.2d 597, 174 P.3d 25, (2007) as a post-GMA case that does not give comprehensive plans regulatory effect, Decision at 23, but *Woods* did not involve a county code that required

11 *Viking Properties, Inc. v. Holm*, 155 Wn.2d 112, 118 P.3d 322 (2005), *abrogated in part by Yim v. City of Seattle*, 194 Wn.2d 682, 451 P.3d 694 (2019).

comprehensive plan conformity. The ‘code mandate’ exception was not discussed.

We rely on three state and three local codes that require the examiner to give regulatory effect to the Comprehensive Plan. We demonstrate in the following sections the flaws in the Decision’s analysis of each.

1. RCW 36.70.970(3)

The Planning Enabling Act (PEA) unambiguously sets forth the ‘code mandate’ exception. The PEA first provides a standard system for plat decisions: The planning agency makes a recommendation and the county legislative body makes a decision. RCW 36.70.650; –.680. Comprehensive plan conformity is not required in that system. But the PEA also allows counties to adopt an alternative system, whereby a hearing examiner is appointed and makes plat decisions. RCW 36.70.970. If this optional, alternative system is adopted, the legislation provides that the examiner’s decision must conform

to the comprehensive plan. RCW 36.70.970(3). Thus, contrary to the general rule that a comprehensive plan has no regulatory effect, this state code provides that if a county chooses to adopt a hearing examiner system to make plat decisions, comprehensive plan conformity is required:

Each final decision of a hearing examiner shall be in writing and shall include findings and conclusions, based on the record, to support the decision. Such findings and conclusions shall also set forth the manner in which the decision would carry out and conform to the county's comprehensive plan and the county's development regulations.

RCW 36.70.970(3).

The Decision refuses to give effect to this unambiguous code. In so doing, the Decision is inconsistent with *Cingular* and its antecedents which require comprehensive plan conformity if a code so provides.

The Decision reaches its contrary conclusion by stating

that RCW 36.70.970(3) must be read together with the Local Project Review Act (RCW 36.70B.030 and .040):

When [RCW 36.70B.030(1) and RCW 36.70B.040(1) are] read together [with RCW 36.70.970(3)], the requirement that a hearing examiner find conformity with a comprehensive plan under RCW 36.70.970(3), means that the hearing examiner looks first to the adopted development regulations where they exist.

Decision at 19.

But the Decision does not “read them together” by giving meaning to each. Rather, it “reads them together” in a manner that gives no meaning at all to RCW 36.70.970(3). Reading statutes together aims to give some meaning to each. *State v. Chapman*, 140 Wn.2d 436, 448, 998 P.2d 282 (2000). The Decision renders RCW 36.70.970(3)) a nullity—in conflict with countless cases directing courts to avoid just that. *See, e.g., Whatcom Cnty. v. City of Bellingham*, 128 Wn.2d 537, 546, 909 P.2d 1303 (1996).

The Decision could have read the statutes together—and given meaning to each—by recognizing that the Local Project Review Act statutes address the ‘no applicable code’ exception while the PEA statute addresses the ‘code mandate’ exception. The Decision did not need to read RCW 36.70.970(3) out of existence in the name of “reading together” statutes that touch on the same subject.

We agree with the Decision that RCW 36.70B.030 and .040 require the examiner to “first” look at the regulations, but that does not decide the issue. *Cingular* and similar cases teach that upon first looking to the adopted regulations, if they require compliance with the comprehensive plan, then compliance with the plan is required. The Decision conflicts with *Cingular* and its antecedents.

Perhaps implicitly acknowledging weakness in its initial rationale, the Decision provides a backup: “And to the extent the procedural requirement in RCW 36.70.970(3) conflicts with the

procedure in RCW 36.70B.030 and .040, we conclude the newer and more specific statute, RCW 36.70B.030 and .040, controls over RCW 36.70.970(3).” Decision at 19. But the Decision does not identify a conflict and for good reason—there is none. As the Decision had just stated, RCW 36.70B.030 and .040 “first” direct the examiner to the codes, but “first” implies a “second” and the Decision never considers the second step. The second step, mandated by *Cingular* and its antecedents, requires conformance with the comprehensive plan, if a code so requires. The Decision omits consideration of the second step. By refusing to give effect to RCW 36.70.970(3), the Decision is inconsistent with the rule in *Cingular* and its antecedents, justifying review by this Court. RAP 13.4.

Moreover, the Decision incorrectly prioritizes RCW 36.70B.030 and .040 as “newer and more specific,” Decision at 19, even though those statutes were adopted in the same session

law that amended RCW 36.70.970,¹² and neither is more specific than the other. *See, Chapman, supra*, 140 Wn. 2d at 452.¹³

Later, the Decision offers another reason for ignoring RCW 36.70.970(3), referencing a statute and a case that state the general rule (that a comprehensive plan is not regulatory). Decision at 23. In so doing, the Decision totally ignores (and is again inconsistent with) *Cingular* and its antecedents.

2. *RCW 58.17.100 and RCW 58.17.110*

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