FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/23/2025 3:06 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

NO. 1043031

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

FALL CITY SUSTAINABLE GROWTH, Appellant,

V.

KING COUNTY; MT. SI INVESTMENTS, LLC; CEDAR 17 INVESTMENTS, LLC; CHA CHA 15 INVESTMENTS, LLC; TAYLOR DEVELOPMENT, INC., Respondents.

KING COUNTY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LEESA MANION King County Prosecuting Attorney

LENA MADDEN, WSBA #41246 DARREN CARNELL, WSBA# 25347 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorneys Attorneys for Respondent King County

King County Prosecuting Attorney's Office 701 5th Avenue, Suite 600 Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-1120

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

A petition requesting a change on the zoning map from one zone to another *must demonstrate that the following criteria are met*...The subject property is suitable for development in general

⁴⁶ West Main, 49 Wn. App. at 526.

⁴⁷ *Id.* at 525.

conformance with zoning standards for the proposed zone.⁴⁸

In summary, *Cingular, Weyerhaeuser, West Main*, and *Woods* all involve regulations in the context of environmental impacts under SEPA authority and/or review of discretionary uses – such as special, conditional, or rezones – that had mandatory language such as "shall meet the following standards" "shall indicate...that the facility meets..." and "must demonstrate that the following criteria is met." Whereas here, subdivisions are an outright permitted use in King County and the applicable regulations either do not specifically mention the comprehensive plan or do so without mandatory language.

2. State law and King County regulations do not mandate regulatory effects for comprehensive plan on subdivisions.

In distinguishing the development regulations in *Cingular*, the Decision correctly concluded that "FCSG fail[ed] to demonstrate that there is an express requirement that plat

⁴⁸ 162 Wn.2d at 622.

applications must comply with the comprehensive plan in addition to the development regulations."⁴⁹

a. Planning Enabling Act, RCW 36.70.970(3).

The Decision correctly concluded that RCW 36.70.970(3) does not "expressly require compliance with comprehensive plan" for the approval of a subdivision applications. The Decision correctly noted that RCW 36.70.970(3), which was adopted prior the GMA, "did not define what it means to 'conform' to the county's comprehensive plan."⁵⁰ Indeed, post-GMA, conformance with the comprehensive plan at the project level is generally achieved through development regulations.

When looking at related provisions in the Local Project Review Act, ch. 36.70B RCW ("LPRA"), the Decision correctly concluded that:

the legislature explained what 'consistency' or 'conformity' with a post-GMA comprehensive

⁴⁹ Decision at 23.

⁵⁰ *Id.* at 18.

plan meant. The legislature stated that RCW 36.70B.030(1) and RCW 36.70B.040(1) were intended to "establish a mechanism for implementing the provisions of [GMA] regarding compliance, <u>conformity</u>, and consistency of proposed projects with adopted comprehensive plans and development regulations." LAWS OF 1995, ch. 347 §§ 404, 405. The legislature explained that where there are adopted development regulations, project conformity with the GMA is determined by the development regulations where they exist, and the comprehensive plan only in the absence of applicable development regulations. RCW 36.70B.030(1); .040(1).

The Decision also noted that the Planning Enabling Act

("PEA") specifically provides that "[i]n no case shall the

comprehensive plan...be considered to be other than in such a

form as to serve as a guide to the later development and

adoption of official controls."51

In its analysis, the Decision properly recognized statutory

interpretation rules, including rendering no language

⁵¹ RCW 36.70.340.

"superfluous or meaningless."⁵² Applying these statutory rules, the Decision correctly concludes that, while both statutes provide the procedure a hearing examiner must follow during project review, "[w]hen read with RCW 36.70B.030(1) and .040(1), conformity is determined by compliance with the applicable development regulations where they exist."⁵³

As the Decision properly reasoned:

This reading allows RCW 36.70B.970(3) flexibility to provide procedure in the various circumstances under which a hearing examiner may be authorized to act, including circumstances where development regulations are absent and where local regulations require consistency with both a comprehensive plan and regulations. To read RCW 36.70B.970(3) as requiring consistency with a comprehensive plan under all circumstances would render superfluous or meaningless the portions of RCW 36.70B.030 and .040 which state that projects are reviewed for consistency with

⁵² Decision at 19 (citing *Wash. State Ass 'n of Counties v. State of Washington*, 199 Wn.2d 1, 12-14, 502 P.3d 825 (2022)); *See also State v. Chapman*, 140 Wn. 2d at 455 (2000) (Statutes relating to the same subject will be read as complementary, instead of in conflict with each other).

 $^{^{53}}$ Decision at 23.

development regulations, or in the absence of such regulations, the comprehensive plan."⁵⁴

"The purpose of interpreting statutory provisions together with related provisions is to achieve a harmonious and unified statutory scheme that maintains the integrity of the respective statutes."⁵⁵ Consistent with this rule, Division One's interpretation of RCW 36.70B.970(3) properly achieves a harmonious and unified statutory scheme that maintains the integrity of all applicable statutes.

Further, and contrary to FCSG's assertion, the Examiner set out the manner in which the decision conforms with the KCCP by indicating that the density regulations were the only applicable tool for conformance with rural character and appropriately applied those density regulations when approving the plat application.

b. State Subdivision Statute.

⁵⁴ *Id.* at 19-20.

⁵⁵ State v. Chapman, 140 Wn.2d 436, 448, 998 P.2d 282 (2000) (citing *In re Estate of Kerr*, 134 Wn.2d 328, 336, 949 P.2d 810 (1998).

FCSG also argued that the State subdivision statute, ch. 58.17 RCW, requires a hearing examiner to give regulatory effect to the comprehensive plans on all subdivision applications. Consistent with *Cingular*, the Decision correctly concluded that neither RCW 58.17.100 nor 58.17.110(2) requires preliminary plat applications to meet the comprehensive plan in addition to regulations for approval.

The fundamental objective when interpreting a statute is to ascertain the Legislature's intent in enacting it.⁵⁶ "When statutory language is plain on its face, [this Court] give[s] effect to that plain meaning as an expression of legislative intent."⁵⁷ "A statute's plain meaning may be discerned from 'all that the Legislature has said in the statute and related statutes."⁵⁸ Courts "look to the language of a statute, the context in which

⁵⁶ *Housing Authority of County of King v. Knight*, 4 Wn.3d 324, 331, 563 P.3d 1058 (2025).

⁵⁷ Id. at 331 (citing Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn,

LLC, ("*Campbell*") 146 Wn.2d 1, 9-10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002).

⁵⁸ *Id.* (quoting *Campbell*, 146 Wn.2d at 11).

the provision is found, related provisions, and the statutory

scheme as a whole."⁵⁹ That is what Division One did here.

When looking at RCW 58.17.100 and its context, related

provisions, and the statutory scheme as a whole, the Decision

correctly concluded that:

RCW 58.17.100 only addresses 'recommendations' by the hearing examiner and 'advisory' reports. Nothing in RCW 58.17.100 mandates a hearing examiner deny a plat application that it determines fails to conform to the general purpose of a comprehensive plan. In contrast, the next provision of the statute, RCW 58.17.110(2), addresses factors to be considered, authority to condition, and findings necessary, before a plat application may be approved.⁶⁰

RCW 58.17.110(2) states:

A proposed subdivision and dedication *shall not be approved unless* the city, town, or county legislative body makes written findings that: (a) Appropriate provisions are made for the public health, safety, and general welfare and for such open spaces, drainage ways, streets or roads, alleys, other public ways, transit stops, potable water supplies, sanitary wastes, parks and

⁵⁹ *Id.* (citing *State v. Engel*, 166 Wn.2d 573, 578, 210 P.3d 1007 (2009)).

⁶⁰ Decision at 16.

recreation, playgrounds, schools and schoolgrounds and all other relevant facts, including sidewalks and other planning features that assure safe walking conditions for students who only walk to and from school; and (b) the public use and interest will be served by the platting of such subdivision and dedication. If it finds that the proposed subdivision and dedication make such appropriate provisions and that the public use and interest will be served, then the legislative body shall approve the proposed subdivision and dedication.

As the Decision correctly noted, "missing is a requirement that

the proposed plat application conform with the general purpose

of the comprehensive plan."61

The Decision also correctly concludes that RCW

58.17.110(2)'s "general welfare" requirement does not equate

to a code mandate:

While FCSG is correct that the comprehensive plan provides "a means" of promoting the general welfare, nothing in KCC 20.08.070 states that conformity or consistency with the comprehensive plan is the only means. Here, the hearing examiner found that plats, as conditioned, served the general welfare and satisfied the public interest based on compliance with the long list of specific topics

⁶¹ *Id.* at 17.

identified in RCW 58.17.110, as well as compliance with the applicable development regulations.⁶²

To interpret RCW 58.17.110(2) as essentially having an *implicit* rather than an *express* comprehensive plan mandate, as FCSG invites, would be directly in conflict with the established rule that the code must "*expressly require*" that a site-specific project meet the comprehensive plan to have regulatory effect.

Contrary to FCSG's argument, the Decision's interpretation of RCW 58.17.100's "assure conformance" does not render it meaningless. Similar to the PEA, the statute's broad language provides flexibility to provide procedure in various circumstances where development regulations are absent and where local regulations give a comprehensive plan regulatory effect. The same reasoning holds true for the subdivision statute's statement of purpose in RCW 58.17.010: "The purpose of this chapter is...to provide expeditious review

⁶² *Id.* at 17, fn 11.

and approval of proposed subdivisions which conform to zoning standards and local plans and policies..."

FCSG's assertion that the Decision's analysis of RCW 58.17.100 ignores that in King County the Examiner has authority for final approval is also incorrect.⁶³ The requirements for approval are listed in RCW 58.17.110, not .100. Thus, whomever has final decision-making authority under 58.17.110 is not determinative of whether the comprehensive plan is regulatory. FCSG also mischaracterizes the Decision's reliance on *W. Hill Citizens for Controlled Dev.*

⁶³ FCSG reliance on *Buchseib/Danard Inc. v. Skagit County*, 31 Wn. App. 489, 643 P.2d 460 (1982) ("*Buchseib*") as support that RCW 58.17.110 contains a "code mandate" is misplaced because that issue was not addressed in that case. The issue in that case was whether Skagit County Code ("SCC") divested the Skagit County Board of Commissioners ("Board") of final authority to deny preliminary plats if the Planning Commission made a recommendation for approval. *Id.* at 491-92. Within that context, Division One looked to RCW 58.17.100 only as an analogy, noting that "state law is to the same effect." *Id.* Because *Buchseib* is inapplicable to the issues presented here, it does not render the Decision inconsistent with appellate precedent.

*Density v. King County Council*⁶⁴ ("*W. Hill"*). The Decision cited *W. Hill* to illustrate that Division One has recognized for over 40 years that "the recommendations in RCW 58.17.100 do not carry over into the requirements for plat or subdivision approval in RCW 58.17.110(2) for the very reasons stated above." ⁶⁵ The Decision properly read the statutory provisions together and construed the statute as a whole as required under the rules of statutory interpretation.

c. County Codes

The Decision found that "[o]n its face, KCC 20.12.010 requires only that the comprehensive plan *guide* land development decisions such as plat decisions and does not expressly require plat decisions comply with the comprehensive plan."⁶⁶ Further, the Decision correctly concluded that KCC 20.22.030 does not expressly require a hearing examiner to give

⁶⁴ 29 Wn. App. 168, 171-72, 627 P.2d 1002 (1981).

⁶⁵ Decision at 17.

⁶⁶ *Id.* at 24.

regulatory effect to the comprehensive plan to approve a plat application.⁶⁷

FCSG argues that the Decision's "rationales ignore that even if the examiner only had discretion, and not a duty, to assure conformance, the examiner did not recognize that she had discretion."⁶⁸ While acknowledging the narrow 'code mandate,' FCSG nonetheless suggests that a hearing examiner has discretion to determine whether a comprehensive plan has regulatory effect when reviewing land use permit applications, which is in direct conflict with *Cingular*, *Weyerhaeuser, West Main*, and *Woods*.

Because a regulation must *expressly require* that a sitespecific project meet the comprehensive plan, whether a comprehensive plan has regulatory effect at the project level is not left to the hearing examiner's discretion. Indeed, if the comprehensive plan does not have regulatory effect, then the

⁶⁷ Id.

⁶⁸ PFR at 31.

hearing examiner lacks a basis to deny or condition a subdivision application based on that non-regulatory comprehensive plan. Further, FCSG's suggestion that the hearing examiner has discretion to apply comprehensive plan provisions to project applications would promote neither clarity nor certainty.

KCC 19A.08.060 grants the hearing examiner discretion to approve, approve with conditions, or deny a plat application based on a list of 16 rules, regulations, plans, and policies, including the comprehensive plan. The Decision correctly found that "[n]othing in KCC 19A.08.060 expressly requires denial of a plat application if it does not comply with every element or policy of the comprehensive plan."

FCSG argues that the Decision should have found that the Examiner erred for failing to recognize that she had authority to condition or deny the subdivision applications based on the KCCP.⁶⁹ But as discussed above, the Examiner does not have discretion to give the comprehensive plan regulatory effect at the project level.

In affirming the Examiner, the Decision properly found that the only tools the legislative authority chose to allow for meeting 'rural character' was maximum densities under the development regulations. The Decision further found that the subdivision applications met all required state law and applicable local regulations.

Because the Decision correctly applied the rules of statutory interpretation and the 'code mandate' consistent with appellate precedent, the criteria under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) have not been met and the Court should decline review.

B. <u>Petition for Review Does Not Present an Issue</u> of Substantial Public Interest.

The Decision involves the approval of small subdivisions in Fall City that are all consistent with local regulations and

⁶⁹ PFR at 30.

state law. As discussed above, RCW 58.17.110 specifically provides the factors that must be considered as well as the required findings and conditions to approve a proposed subdivision in the state of Washington. None lists the comprehensive plan. Further, nothing in RCW 36.70.970(3) and 58.17.100 expressly requires the regulatory effect of all comprehensive plans on all site-specific land use decisions within the state of Washington.

While the state provides mandatory subdivisions rules, it is the local jurisdiction that implements the local comprehensive plan through the adoption of local regulations that ultimately control the site-specific land use project. The well-settled rule that regulations can provide regulatory effect to comprehensive plans if the code itself expressly requires so provides local jurisdictions with discretion and certainty in regulating land use at the local level.

Because state requirements for subdivisions are wellsettled, and because the Decision's interpretation of the

34

County's land use code for a site-specific project is unique to these three subdivisions, this case does not present an issue of substantial public interest.

IV. CONCLUSION

This subdivision case involves local development regulations and well-settled legal principles. The Decision is entirely consistent with long-standing appellate precedent and does not present an issue of substantial public interest.

Accordingly, the County respectfully requests this Court deny review.